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Book 1: Milla


(Conspiracy)


July to September 2009


. . . some days leave no tracks.


They pass as though they never existed, immediately forgotten in the haze of my routine. Other days’ tracks are visible for a week or so, until the winds of memory cover them in the pale sand of new experiences.


Photostatic record: Diary of Milla Strachan, 27 September 2009


 


The US Department of the Treasury today moved to designate two South African individuals, Farhad Ahmed Dockrat and Junaid Ismail Dockrat, and a related entity for financing and facilitating al-Qaeda, pursuant to Executive Order 13224.  This action freezes any assets the designees have under US jurisdiction and prohibits transactions between US persons and the designees.


Press release, US Department of Treasury, 26 January 2007 (Verbatim)
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31 July 2009. Friday.


Ismail Mohammed runs down the steep slope of Heiliger Lane. The coat-tails of his white jalabiya robe with its trendy open mandarin collar flick up high with every stride. His arms wave wildly, in mortal fear, and for balance. The crocheted kufi falls off his head onto the cobbles at the crossroad, as he fixes his eyes on the relative safety of the city below.


Behind him the door of the one-storey building next to the Bo-Kaap’s Schotschekloof mosque bursts open for the second time. Six men, also in traditional Islamic garb, rush out onto the street all looking immediately, instinctively downhill. One has a pistol in his hand. Hurriedly, he takes aim at the figure of Ismail Mohammed, already sixty metres away, and fires off two wild shots, before the last, older man knocks his arm up, bellowing: ‘No! Go. Catch him.’


The three younger men set off after Ismail. The grizzled heads stand watching, eyes anxious at the lead they have to make up.


‘You should have let him shoot, Sheikh,’ says one.


‘No, Shaheed. He was eavesdropping.’


‘Exactly. And then he ran. That says enough.’


‘It doesn’t tell us who he’s working for.’


‘Him? Ismail? You surely don’t think . . .’


‘You never can tell.’


‘No. He’s too . . . clumsy. For the locals maybe. NIA.’


‘I hope you are right.’ The Sheikh watches the pursuers sprinting across the Chiappini Street crossing, weighing up the implications. A siren sounds up from below in Buitengracht.


‘Come,’ he says calmly. ‘Everything has changed.’


He walks ahead, quickly, to the Volvo.


From the belly of the city another siren begins to wail.


 


She knew the significance of the footsteps, five o’ clock on a Friday afternoon, so hurried and purposeful. She felt the paralysis of prescience, the burden. With great effort she raised up her defences against it.


Barend came in, a whirlwind of shampoo and too much deodorant. She didn’t look at him, knowing he would be freshly turned out for the evening, his hair a new, dubious experiment. He sat down at the breakfast counter. ‘So, how are you, Ma? What’s cooking?’ So jovial.


‘Dinner,’ said Milla, resigned.


‘Oh. I’m not eating here.’


She knew that. Christo probably wouldn’t either.


‘Ma, you’re not going to use your car tonight, are you.’ In the tone of voice he had perfected, that astonishing blend of pre-emptive hurt and barely disguised blame.


‘Where do you want to go?’


‘To the city. Jacques is coming. He’s got his licence.’


‘Where in the city?’


‘We haven’t decided yet.’


‘Barend, I have to know.’ As gently as possible.


‘Ja, Ma, I’ll let you know later.’ The first hint of annoyance breaking through.


‘What time will you be home?’


‘Ma, I’m eighteen. Pa was in the army when he was this old.’


‘The army had rules.’


He sighed, irritated. ‘OK, OK. So . . . we’ll leave at twelve.’


‘That’s what you said last week. You only got in after two. You’re in Matric, the final exams . . .’


‘Jissis, Ma, why do you always go on about it? You don’t want me to have any fun.’


‘I want you to have fun. But within certain limits.’


He gave a derisory laugh, the one that meant he was a fool to put up with this. She forced herself not to react.


‘I told you. We will leave at twelve.’


‘Please don’t drink.’


‘Why do you worry about that?’


She wanted to say, I worry about the half-bottle of brandy I found in your cupboard, clumsily hidden behind your underpants, along with the pack of Marlboro’s. ‘It’s my job to worry. You’re my child.’


Silence, as if he accepted that. Relief washed over her. That was all he wanted. They had got this far without a skirmish. Then she heard the tap-tap of his jerking leg against the counter, saw how he lifted the lid off the sugar bowl and rolled it between his fingers. She knew he wasn’t finished. He wanted money too.


‘Ma, I can’t let Jacques and them pay for me.’


He was so clever with his choice of words, with the sequence of favours asked, with his strategy and onslaught of accusation and blame. He spun his web with adult skill, she thought. He set his snares, and she stepped into them so easily in her eternal urge to avoid conflict. The humiliation could be heard in her voice. ‘Is your pocket money finished?’


‘Do you want me to be a parasite?’


The you and the aggression were the trigger, she saw the familiar battlefield ahead. Just give him the money, give him the purse and say take it. Everything. Just what he wanted.


She took a deep breath. ‘I want you to manage on your pocket money. Eight hundred rand a month is . . .’


‘Do you know how much Jacques gets?’


‘It doesn’t matter, Barend. If you want more you should . . .’


‘Do you want me to lose all my friends? You don’t want me to be fucking happy.’ The swearword shook her, along with the clatter of the sugar bowl lid that he threw against the cupboard.


‘Barend,’ she said, shocked. He had exploded before, thrown his hands in the air, stormed out. He had used Jesus and God, he had mumbled the unmentionable, cowardly and just out of hearing. But not this time. Now his whole torso leaned over the counter, now his face was filled with disgust for her. ‘You make me sick,’ he said.


She cringed, experiencing the attack physically, so that she had to reach for support, stretch out her hand to the cupboard. She did not want to cry, but the tears came anyway, there in front of the stove with a wooden spoon in her hand and the odour of hot olive oil in her nose. She repeated her son’s name, softly and soothingly.


With venom, with disgust, with the intent to cause bodily harm, with his father’s voice and inflection and abuse of power, Barend slumped back on the stool and said, ‘Jesus, you are pathetic. No wonder your husband fucks around.’


 


The member of the oversight committee, glass in hand, beckoned to Janina Mentz. She stood still and waited for him to navigate a path to her. ‘Madam Director,’ he greeted her. Then he leaned over conspiratorially, his mouth close to her ear: ‘Did you hear?’


They were in the middle of a banqueting hall, surrounded by four hundred people. She shook her head, expecting the usual, the latest minor scandal of the week.


‘The Minister is considering an amalgamation.’


‘Which Minister?’


‘Your Minister.’


‘An amalgamation?’


‘A superstructure. You, the National Intelligence Agency, the Secret Service, everyone. A consolidation, a union. Complete integration.’


She looked at him, at his full-moon face, shiny with the glow of alcohol, looking for signs of humour. She found none.


‘Come on,’ she said. How sober was he?


‘That’s the rumour. The word on the street.’


‘How many glasses have you had?’ Light-hearted.


‘Janina, I am deadly serious.’


She knew he was informed, had always been reliable. She hid her concern out of habit. ‘And does the rumour say when?’


‘The announcement will come. Three, four weeks. But that’s not the big news.’


‘Oh.’


‘The President wants Mo. As chief.’


She frowned at him.


‘Mo Shaik,’ he said.


She laughed, short and sceptical.


‘Word on the street,’ he said solemnly.


She smiled, wanted to ask about his source, but her cellphone rang inside her small black handbag. ‘Excuse me,’ she said, unclipping the handbag and taking out her phone. It was the Advocate, she saw.


‘Tau?’ she answered.


‘Ismail Mohammed is in from the cold.’


 


Milla lay on her side in the dark, knees tucked up to her chest. Beyond weeping she made reluctant, painful discoveries. It seemed as though the grey glass, the tinted window between her and reality, was shattered, so that she saw her existence brilliantly exposed, and she could not look away.


When she could no longer stand it, she took refuge in questions, in retracing. How had she come to this? How had she lost consciousness, sunk so deep? When? How had this lie, this fantasy life, overtaken her? Every answer brought greater fear of the inevitable, the absolute knowledge of what she must do. And for that she did not have the courage. Not even the words. She, who had always had words, in her head, in her diary, for everything.


She lay like that until Christo came home, at half past twelve that night. He didn’t try to be quiet. His unsteady footsteps were muffled on the carpet, he switched on the bathroom light, then came back and sat down heavily on the bed.


She lay motionless, with her back to him, her eyes closed, listening to him pulling off his shoes, tossing them aside, getting up to go to the bathroom, urinating, farting.


Shower, please. Wash your sins away.


Running water in the basin. Then the light went off, he came to bed, climbed in. Grunted, tired, content.


Just before he pulled the blankets over himself, she smelled him. The alcohol. Cigarette smoke, sweat. And the other, more primitive smell.


That’s when she found the courage.
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1 August 2009. Saturday.


Transcription: Debriefing of Ismail Mohammed by A.J.M. Williams. Safe House, Gardens, Cape Town


Date and Time: 1 August 2009, 17.52


M: I want to enter the program, Williams. Like in now.


W: I understand, Ismail, but . . .


M: No ‘buts’. Those fuckers wanted to shoot me. They won’t stop at trying.


W: Relax, Ismail. Once we’ve debriefed you . . .


M: How long is that going to take?


W: The sooner you calm down and talk to me, the sooner it will be done.


M: And then you’ll put me in witness protection?


W: You know we look after our people. Let’s start at the beginning, Ismail. How did it happen?


M: I heard them talking . . .


W: No, how did they find out you were working for us?


M: I don’t know.


W: You must have some sort of idea.


M: I . . . Maybe they followed me . . .


W: To the drop?


M: Maybe. I was careful. With everything. For the drop I did three switch backs, got on other trains twice, but . . .


W: But what?


M: No, I . . . you know . . . After the drop . . . I thought . . . I dunno . . . Maybe I saw someone. But afterwards . . .


W: One of them?


M: Could be. Maybe.


W: Why did they suspect you?


M: What do you mean?


W: Let’s suppose they followed you. They must have had a reason. You must have done something. Asked too many questions? Wrong place at the wrong time?


M: It’s your fault. If I could have reported via the cellphone, I would have been there still.


W: Cellphones are dangerous, Ismail, you know that.


M: They can’t tap every phone in the Cape.


W: No, Ismail, only those that matter. What have the cellphones to do with this?


M: Every time I had to report, I had to leave. For the drop.


W: What happened after the drop?


M: My last drop was Monday, Tuesday, the shit started, there was a discreet silence between them. At first I thought it was some other tension. Maybe over the shipment. Then yesterday I saw, no, it was only when I was around that they got like that. Subtle, you know, very subtle, they tried to hide it, but it was there. Then I began to worry, I thought, better keep my ears open, something’s wrong. And then this morning, Suleiman sat in council and said I must wait in the kitchen with Rayan . . .


W: Suleiman Dolly. The ‘Sheikh’.


M: Yes.


W: And Rayan . . . ?


M: Baboo Rayan. A dogsbody, a driver. Just like me. We worked together. Anyway, Rayan never said a word to me, which is really strange. And then they called Rayan in too, for the very first time, I mean, he’s a dogsbody like me, we don’t get called in. So I thought, let me listen at the door, because this means trouble. So I went down the passage and stood there and heard the Sheikh . . . Suleiman . . . when he said, ‘We can’t take any risks, the stakes are too high.’


W: The stakes are too high.


M: That’s right. Then the Sheikh said to Rayan: ‘Tell the council how Ismail disappears’.


W: Go on.


M: There’s no going on. That’s when they caught me.


W: How?


M: The Imam caught me at the door. He was supposed to be inside. They were all supposed to be inside.


W: So you ran.


M: I ran, yes, and the fuckers shot at me, I’m telling you, these people are ruthless. Intense.


W: OK. Let’s go back to Monday. At the drop you talked about ‘lots of sudden activity’ . . .


M: The last two weeks, yes. Something’s brewing.


W: Why do you say that?


M: The Committee used to meet once a week, for months. Now suddenly, it’s three, four times. What does that tell you?


W: But you don’t know why.


M: Must be the shipment.


W: Tell me again about the phone call. Suleiman and Macki.


M: Last Friday. Macki phoned the Sheikh. The Sheikh stood up and went into the passage so that I couldn’t hear everything.


W: How did you know it was Macki?


M: Because the Sheikh said, ‘Hello, Sayyid’.


W: Sayyid Khalid bin Alawi Macki?


M: That’s him. The Sheikh asked Macki as he was walking away, ‘Any news on the shipment?‘ And then he said, ‘September’, like he was confirming it.


W: Is that all?


M: That’s all I heard of their conversation. Then the Sheikh came back and told the others, ‘Bad news’.


W: Bad news. Do you know what that means?


M: How would I know? It could be because the shipment is small. Or the timing is wrong. It could be anything.


W: And then?


M: Then they left, the Sheikh and the two Supreme Committee members. They went off to the basement. Then you must know, it’s top secret.


W: Would you say the shipment is coming in September? Is that the conclusion you came to?


M: Best guess.


W: Is that a ‘yes’?


M: That is what I think.


W: And the shipment. Have you any idea what it is?


M: You know, if it is Macki, it’s diamonds.


W: What does the Committee want with diamonds, Ismail?


M: Only the Supreme Committee knows that.


W: And no one else talked about it?


M: Of course they talked about it, on the lower levels. But that is dicey intel, you know that.


W: Where there’s smoke . . . What did the lower levels say?


M: They said it was weapons. For local action.


W: What do you mean?


M: That was the rumour. They wanted to bring in weapons. For an attack, here. For the first time. But I don’t believe that.


W: A Muslim attack? In South Africa?


M: Ja. Here. Cape Town. The fairest Cape.
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2 August 2009. Sunday.


On the sixth floor of the Wale Street Chambers, in the director’s office of the PIA, the Presidential Intelligence Agency, Janina Mentz studied the transcript with focused attention. When she had finished, she took off her glasses and placed them on the desk. She raised her hands to rub her eyes.


She hadn’t slept well, the news of the previous evening gnawed at her, the amalgamation rumour. Strange enough to be true. Or partially true.


And what would become of her?


She was seen as an Mbeki appointment. The former president had created the PIA. Although Mentz had not picked sides in the leadership struggle, although she and her people did excellent work, the stigma clung. On top of that she was new, only three months as director, no proven record with which to negotiate for a new position. And she was white.


How much of the rumour was true? Mo Shaik as head of the superstructure? Mo, brother of Shabir, the convicted, corrupt Shabir, former friend of the new president.


Anything was possible.


So many years of service. So much struggling and striving, so much hard work to get here. Only to lose it all?


No.


Janina Mentz lowered her hands and put on her glasses.


She reached for the Ismail Mohammed interview again. What she, what the PIA needed to survive, was an Exceptional Alarm. A Big Threat, a Sensitive Issue. And here it was, sent by the gods. Her responsibility was to exploit it.


She turned to her computer and searched for the historical reports in the database.


 


Report: South African Muslim Extremism revisited


Date: 14 February 2007


Compiled by: Velma du Plessis and Donald MacFarland


1. Qibla in a new guise


Qibla was established in 1980 by radical Imam Achmed Cassiem to promote the establishment of an Islamic state in South Africa, using the Iranian revolution as its model. During the 1980s, Qibla sent members to Libya for military training, and in the 1990s, operatives trained in Pakistan and fought alongside Hezbollah in South Lebanon. After 9/11, it also recruited fighters to send to Afghanistan.


Because of the clampdown on related organisation People Against Gangsterism and Drugs (PAGAD) between 1998 and 2000, and the arrest of over one hundred Qibla supporters for violent offenses, including murder, Qibla all but disappeared.


In its place, a new, and far more secretive organisation was created. It is called The Supreme Committee.


 


3 August 2009. Monday.


Milla Strachan pulled the key out of the lock, pushed the front door open, but did not immediately enter. She stood a while, her body motionless, her dark eyes unfocused for a moment. Beyond the open door the rooms of the apartment were empty. No curtains, no furniture, just a worn wall-to-wall carpet of washed-out beige.


Still she hesitated at the door, as though some great force held her back, as though she were waiting for something.


Then in one swift movement she bent down, picked up the large travel cases on either side of her and stepped through the door.


She put the luggage down in the bedroom, conscious of the depressing emptiness. When she had been here on Saturday, the former tenant’s furniture had filled it still, stacks of cardboard boxes for the hasty trip to Germany, called back on short notice to an aid organisation’s head office. ‘I am so grateful that someone saw the advertisement, this is such a crisis. You won’t be sorry, look at the view,’ the woman had said and pointed at the window. It looked out on Davenport Street in Vredehoek – and a thin slice of the city and the sea, framed by the blocks of flats opposite.


Milla had said she wanted the flat, she would sign the lease agreement.


‘Where are you from?’ the woman asked.


‘Another world,’ Milla answered quietly.


 


The three of them sat around the round table in Mentz’s office, each noticeably different. The director had a strong face, despite the large, wide mouth, lipstick free. The severe steel-rimmed spectacles, hair tied back, conservative outfit, loose, grey and white, as if she wanted to hide her femininity. Faint, old traces of acne down her jaw disguised with foundation, slender fingers without rings, nails unpainted. Her expression was mostly inscrutable.


Advocate Tau Masilo, Deputy Director: Operational and Strategy. Forty-three, flat-bellied, colourful braces, matching tie, just a touch of flamboyance. The facial features strong, with gravitas, intense eyes, hair short and neat. Masilo’s staff referred to him as ‘Nobody’ – from the phrase ‘nobody’s perfect’. Because in their eyes, Tau Masilo, phlegmatic and accomplished, was perfect. He was SeSotho, but he spoke five other South African languages effortlessly. Mentz had hand-picked him.


And then, Rajkumar, Deputy Director: Information Systems. The Indian with his long black hair down to his tailbone. Mentz had inherited him.


Rajkumar’s saving grace was his phenomenal intellect and his insight into electronics and digital communication, because he was fat to an extreme degree, over-sensitive, and socially inept. He sat with his forearms on the table, pudgy fingers intertwined, staring intently at his hands as if he were totally captivated by them.


Mentz got up slowly. ‘Any other evidence?’


Rajkumar, ever ready and keen: ‘The Supreme Committee’s email traffic – there is a definite escalation. I think Ismail is right, they’re cooking up something. But I have my doubts about the target . . .’


‘Tau?’


‘What bothers me are the reports from Zim. Macki is no longer a player – he and Mugabe can’t stand each other.’


‘Possibly not. Perhaps directly from Oman, perhaps from another source. Angola is a possibility.’


‘And the fact that they are planning something in the Cape?’ Mentz asked.


‘I agree with Raj. Firstly: local terror would make their partners very unhappy. Hamas and Hezbollah are very grateful for our government’s sympathy and support. Secondly: how do they benefit? What is the purpose? I can’t see anything logical they can achieve through that. Thirdly: what would the motive be? Now?’


‘Afghanistan,’ said the Advocate. ‘That’s the new flashpoint. The mujahideen need more weapons and supplies, but how can they obtain them? Pakistan is working closely with the USA , blocking all the holes. NATO is keeping an eagle eye on traffic out of the Middle East. Thanks to the pirates, Somalia is no longer an option.’


‘Price of opium is down too,’ said Rajkumar. ‘Taliban cash flow is not what it used to be.’


‘So where do you send your supplies from?’ asked Masilo and answered his own question: ‘From here.’


‘How?’


‘I don’t know. By ship?’


‘Why not?’ asked Rajkumar. ‘Afghanistan has no coastline, but Iran has.’


‘Then why not ship the arms from Indonesia. Lots of angry Muslims there.’


‘Good point. Perhaps because that is what the US will be thinking too. They have a big naval presence . . .’


They looked towards Mentz. She nodded, pushed the papers into a neat pile in front of her. ‘And yet, according to Ismail they are talking about a local attack . . .’


‘On the lower levels.’


‘You know how information filters down from the top, Raj.’ She looked at Masilo. ‘How easy is it going to be for us to replace Ismail Mohammed?’


‘Not easy. Ismail’s escape . . . it made them jittery. They don’t meet in Schotschekloof any more, we still have to ascertain where their new hide-out is. If there is one.’


‘That’s a priority, Tau. Track them down. I want Ismail replaced.’


‘That will take time.’


‘You have less than a month.’


He shook his head. ‘Ma’am, they weren’t a priority for three or four years. It’s a closed circle, Ismail was inside already.’


‘There must be someone inside that we can . . . reach.’


‘I’ll prepare a list.’


‘Raj, why can’t you read their email?’


‘They’re using an encryption we’ve never seen before. It might be a variant of 128 bit, but the bottom line is, we can’t crack it. We will continue to sniff every package. Sooner or later, they will make a mistake and forget to encrypt. It happens. Eventually.’


She thought for a while before she spoke: ‘There is something brewing here, gentlemen. All the signs are there. The email traffic, the sudden action against Ismail, the rumours, the so-called shipment, after two years of quiet. I want to know what it is. If you need more people or resources, talk to me. Tau, double our surveillance. I want someone in Ismail’s place, I want weekly progress reports, I want focus and commitment. Thank you for coming in early.’


 


She went to fetch two more suitcases, then the sleeping bag and the air mattress out of the white Renault Clio she had parked in the street. Outside she felt self-conscious. What did the people here think? A forty-year-old woman moving in alone. That vague anxiety in her, undefined, lurking there like a slumbering reptile just below the surface of the water.


She unpacked her clothes into the built-in cupboards of cheap white melamine. In the bathroom the little white cabinet above the basin was too small for all her things. When she pushed the door closed, it caught her in the mirror – almost a stranger. Black hair, between long and short, not well styled. Not dyed, the grey hairs visible. The sallow Mediterranean skin, wrinkles at the corners of the eyes, two creases at the corners of the mouth. No make-up, lifeless, tired. An awakening, God, Milla, no wonder – you let yourself go, what man would stay with you?


She turned around swiftly, went to inflate the mattress.


In the bedroom she sat on the floor and unrolled it, putting the valve between her lips. Words ran through her, as always, too many.


Some of those words she would write in her diary: I am here because the woman in the mirror failed in a small way, day after day. Like holding a rope in my hands, the invisible weight on the other side of the cliff just heavy enough to slide down little by little, until the end slipped through my fingers. The cause, I know now, lay just here under my skin. In the texture of my tissue, in the twisting of my DNA. Simply made this way. Unfit. Unfit despite my best efforts and all my good intentions. Unfit because of my attempts and intentions. An inherent, inescapable, deep-rooted, total, frustrating, miserable unsuitability: I cannot be a wife to that man. I cannot be a mother to that child. And the strong possibility that I can’t be a wife to anyone, that I am generally, simply unsuited to be a wife and a mother.


From her handbag, her cellphone began to ring. She closed the mattress valve carefully, deliberately. She guessed it was Christo. Her ex-husband. For all practical purposes.


The envelope had reached him.


She took the cellphone out of her handbag and checked the screen. It was Christo’s number at work. 


He would be sitting in his office with her letter in front of him. And the documents from the attorney, drawn up in a hurry on Saturday afternoon. Christo would have the door closed, that angry expression on his face, that you-fucking-miserable-stupid-woman version. The swearwords would be damming up. If she answered his call he would open the sluice gates with: ‘Jissis, Milla.’


She stared at the screen, her heart thumping, hands trembling. She lowered the phone back into her bag. The screen glowed inside with an unholy light.


Eventually the ring went over to voicemail, the light dimmed. She knew he would leave a message. Cursing.


She turned away from the handbag and made a decision: she would change her number. Before she sat down beside the mattress again, the phone beeped to say she had a message.


 


5 August 2009. Wednesday.


They came to deliver the Ardo fridge late that afternoon. When they had left, Milla stood listening to its reassuring hum. She inspected its chunky shape and thought, here is something to hold on to. The first, solid shield against going back, against being swallowed up, against the fear of a formless future. This was a new unease she felt, the anxiety over money. A bed, a couch, table, chairs, desk, curtains, everything was ordered, a small fortune.


Her nest egg, her modest inheritance, had shrunk quite considerably.


She would have to find work. Urgently. For the money. But also for the liberation of it.
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6 August 2009. Thursday.


She drove back to Durbanville at ten in the morning, when there would be no one home. She wanted to put the sleeping bag and inflatable mattress back in the garage; they belonged to Christo, and she would leave her keys there for the last time.


Herta Erna Street.


Christo had laughed at her when she said she refused to live in a street with that name.


He worked with figures, he never understood her relationship with words. Never understood that words were dynamic, they had rhythm and feeling. That the way her mouth and tongue shaped them was not separate from meaning, emotion and sound.


The Lombaards of Herta Erna Street. She had shuddered when they moved in.


 


She waited impatiently for the gate, as it slowly rolled aside. Behind it lay the big double storey. ‘Developer’s Delight’, was how an architect had described this building style in some magazine. Or ‘Transvaal Tuscan’. At best, ‘Modern Suburban’.


They had come to look at it together back then. Two months of searching in this area, because Christo was determined to live here. His only reason: ‘We can afford it’. Which really meant ‘We are too rich for Stellenberg now.’


One Durbanville house after the next. She weighed them and found them wanting. Luxurious, cold houses without character. Not one of them had bookshelves. That was what struck her most, all these rich white people, but not a book in the house. But every single one had a bar. Elaborate, expensive wooden monstrosities, anything from converted railway sleepers to light polished Swedish wood, the hidden lighting often done with great care, skill and expense. Flick the switch and it would come to life, expand, reveal itself to you: a holy place, a cathedral to St Booze.


Until they had seen this house and Christo said: ‘This is the one I want’. Because it looked expensive. She had objected, to everything, even the name of the street. He laughed it off and signed the offer to purchase.


Milla drove in, up to the triple garage doors. One for Christo’s Audi Q7. One had been for her Renault. One for Christo’s toys.


She pressed the remote for the garage door. It opened. She took the neatly rolled mattress and sleeping bag, climbed out of the car and walked in.


The Q7’s spot was empty.


Relief.


She hurried to the back where Christo’s stuff was stored so neatly. She put the bedding away in its place. Stood still, aware of the door on the left, the one that led into the house. She knew she must not go through it. She would smell Barend. She would see how they were living now. Here she would feel the gravity of her life pulling at her.


The sound of barking dogs down the street.


Depression laid a hand on her shoulder.


The dogs barked incessantly during the day in this neighbourhood. ‘Dogville’. It was her name for Durbanville when she dared once more to complain about her lot to Christo.


‘Jissis, Milla, does nothing satisfy you?’


She left the garage and hurried to her car.


 


At the Palm Grove Mall in Durbanville town centre she slipped into the first available car park, meaning to buy something for lunch at Woolworths. When she got out, she saw the sign for the Arthur Murray dance studio. She glanced at it for a moment, she had forgotten it was here, more evidence of the daze that she had been living in.


At the entrance to the supermarket she smelled the flowers and looked at them, their colours so bright. It was like seeing them for the first time. She thought about the words in her diary last night. How can I regain who I was, BC? Before Christo. 


Back at the Renault she looked at the signboard again.


Dance. Christo wouldn’t dance. Not even at university. Why had she so meekly accepted his choices, his preferences? She had got so much pleasure from dancing in those days, before it all changed.


She unlocked her car, got in, put the flowers and the plastic shopping bag with her lunch ingredients on the passenger seat.


She was free of Christo.


She got out again, locked the door and went in search of the studio.


 


On the dance floor in the bright light streaming through the windows were a man and a woman. Young. He was wearing black trousers, white shirt, black waistcoat. She had on a short wine-red dress, her legs long and lovely. A tango played through the speakers, they glided over the wooden floor, with effortless skill.


Milla stared, enchanted by the beauty, the flow, the perfect timing, their visible pleasure, and was filled with a sudden longing – to be able to do something like that, so well. One beautiful thing you could lose yourself in, where you could feel, and give and live. 


If only she could dance like that. So free.


Finally she approached the desk in front. A woman looked up and smiled.


‘I want to learn,’ said Milla.


 


7 August 2009. Friday.


Her hair was cut and dyed. She had chosen her outfit with care. Her goal was informal professionalism, casual elegance with boots, slacks, black sweater and red scarf. Now, as she waited for The Friend in the Media 24 coffee shop she was uncertain – was her make-up too light, the scarf overdone, did she look too formal, like someone trying too hard?


But when The Friend appeared she said ‘Milla! You look wonderful!’


‘Do you think so?’


‘You know you’re beautiful.’


But she didn’t know.


The Friend had studied with her, seventeen years ago, and made her career in journalism. The Friend, finely featured, was currently deputy editor of a well known women’s magazine, and frequently spoke in accents and exclamation marks.


‘How are things going with you?’


‘Fine.’ And then with some trepidation, ‘I want to work.’


‘Write your book? At last!’


‘I’m thinking of a job in journalism . . .’


‘No! Milla! What for? Trouble?’


She knew she couldn’t talk about everything yet. So she just shrugged and said, ‘Barend doesn’t need me at home any more.’


‘Milla! Not a good idea. You are the wrong colour. You have no experience, no CV, your honours degree won’t help, not at our age. You will be competing with hordes of ambitious, highly qualified young people who are prepared to work for nothing. They know Digital Media, Milla, they live in it. And the economy! The media is fighting to survive! Have you any idea how many magazines they are shutting down? Jobs frozen, cuts. You couldn’t have picked a worse time. Tell Christo you want to open a boutique. A coffee shop. Journalism? Forget it!’


 


9 August 2009. Sunday.


She sat in the sitting room on her new sofa. The Careers section of the Sunday Times was on the coffee table in front of her. Her eyes anxiously scanned the media adverts, companies searching for an eCommerce Operations Manager, a WordPress/PHP Developer, Web Developer and a Web Editor (Internet/Mobile experience ess).


The anxiety was growing, the doubt, she wasn’t going to make it, wasn’t going to survive. The Friend was right. On Friday afternoon an employment agency consultant had told Milla the same, hidden behind political correctness and corporate euphemism. She had no chance.


She couldn’t accept it. At first she had called the magazines, directly, one after the other. She worked down her list of preferences to the dailies, Afrikaans and English. After that, reluctantly, the local, weekly tabloids, and finally, in desperation, tried to track down the publishers of company magazines.


Without success. The same message: No vacancies. But send your CV.


Right at the bottom of one of the inside pages she spotted a small block advert: 


 


Journalist. Permanent position in Cape Town. Relevant experience preferred. Excellent research and writing skills required. Must relish team work. Tertiary qualification essential. Market related salary. Please call Mrs Nkosi. Apply before 31/08/09.


 


It was the ‘preferred’ that gave her a modicum of courage, made her sit up straight, fold the newspaper so that the ad was clearly visible, and pick up the cup of rooibos tea.
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11 August 2009. Tuesday.


At 12.55 the bergie tramp pushed a shopping trolley down Coronation Street with his left hand, past the row of cars in front of the mosque. He swayed drunkenly. In his right hand he held a bottle wrapped in a brown paper bag.


The street was abandoned, the owners of the cars inside the mosque for the Dhuhr prayers.


Beside a white 1998 Hyundai Elantra the bergie stumbled and fell. He held the bottle aloft, desperate to avoid breaking it. He lay a moment, dazed. He tried to get up, but did not succeed. He shifted around, so that his head was under the car, just beside the rear wheel, as if he were looking for shade. Then he pulled the bottle under the car to take a drink, and his hands were no longer in sight. He lay like that for a while, fiddling, before he slowly scuffled out again.


He put the bottle down on the tarmac, put one hand on the edge of the mudguard and tried to stand. He struggled, so that he had to take hold of the vehicle again, then pulled himself upright with great effort.


He brushed imaginary dust off his ragged clothes, picked up his bottle and, still unsteady on his feet, reached for the trolley and began meandering along again.


 


In the electronics room of the Presidential Intelligence Agency, Rahjev Rajkumar sat with a computer operator, while Quinn, the Chief of Staff: Operations, stood beside them. All three stared at the computer screen that displayed a street map of Cape Town.


Quinn glanced at his wristwatch and then back at the screen.


A sudden electronic blip broke the silence. A tiny red triangle appeared on the screen.


‘Zoom in,’ Rajkumar said.


The operator clicked on the magnifying glass icon, then on the triangle, twice, three times, until the name of the street was clear: Coronation.


‘I think we’re in play,’ said Rajkumar.


‘I’ll wait for Terry’s report,’ said Quinn. ‘But so far, so good.’


 


Quinn, Chief of Staff: Operations, reported directly to Advocate Tau Masilo, the Deputy-Director: Operational and Strategy. In the late afternoon in his superior’s office, Quinn told Masilo the GPS transmitter was successfully attached to Baboo Rayan’s white Hyundai Elantra. The monitoring showed that the car had been parked in front of a new address for over an hour. 15 Chamberlain Street, in Upper Woodstock.


‘Let’s do a drive-by,’ said Masilo.


‘The pharmacy motorcycle?’


‘That should do.’


‘I’m on it.’


 


Photostatic record: Diary of Milla Strachan


Date of entry: 11 August 2009


The Swing. One-Two-Three, One-Two-Three. Backstep.


The Foxtrot. Slow. Slow. Quick, quick.


The Waltz. One. Two. Three.


The Tango. Slow . . . Slow . . . Slow . . . Quick, quick. The Morse Code of dance.‘School figures’, Arthur Murray called them, baby steps I have to practise. How different from the woman I had seen dancing last Thursday. But still, there was something comforting about it: if you want to get there, you must begin here. At the bottom. One step at a time. Strange how somehow it relieved the anxiety, the insecurity.


 


14 August 2009. Friday.


In her office, at the round table, Janina Mentz told Rajkumar and Masilo about the President’s alleged vision of a single intelligence service. Masilo did not react. Rajkumar obsessively examined a piece of skin beside his thumbnail.


‘Our careers are on the line,’ she said.


Rajkumar began to chew the skin.


‘Are we the only players in the Supreme Committee developments?’ she asked.


‘Of course,’ said Tau Masilo.


‘Then we must exploit it.’


‘So you’re saying . . .’


‘Yes, Raj, I’m saying this is our ace in the hole. Our last resort. Unless you know of something else where we have exclusivity . . .’


‘No . . .’


‘Then we had better make it work for us, or we will be running the back-office of the new super-duper intelligence conglomerate the President is planning, wondering why we didn’t work a little harder and a little faster when we had the chance.’


‘But what if we’re right? What if it isn’t local action, just al-Qaeda in a last gasp attempt to send a few AK’s to Afghanistan.’


‘Then we will have to find a way to make that little fact work in our favour, Raj.’


 


Milla Strachan was reading when her cellphone rang at half past three in the afternoon.


UNKNOWN CALLER.


‘Hello?’


‘Is that Milla Strachan?’


‘Yes.’


‘I am Mrs Nkosi. From the agency. I have good news. We would like you to come for a job interview.’


‘Oh . . .’ She was relieved and surprised and thankful.


‘You are still interested?’


‘Yes.’


‘Could you come next week?’


‘Yes. Yes, I can.’


‘Wednesday?’


‘Wednesday would be good.’ She’d nearly said ‘great’, had to steel herself not to sound too grateful or too eager.


‘Wonderful. Twelve o’clock?’
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18 August 2009. Tuesday.


Advocate Tau Masilo opened a file on his lap, took out a photo and placed it on the desk in front of Mentz. ‘Late yesterday afternoon, taken by the pharmacy motorbike at 15 Chamberlain Street in Woodstock . . .’


The photo showed the Sheikh, Suleiman Dolly, Chairman of the Supreme Committee, walking around the front of a car.


‘There’s a strong possibility that this is their new meeting place,’ he said.


She studied the pictures. ‘They chose well.’


‘They did. That says something. Look at that photo. Dolly isn’t driving his Volvo any more, which means he is being very careful all of a sudden. This is the new meeting place, with live-in security, because we saw Baboo has moved into one side of the semi-detached. There’s the choice of the house itself. Middle-class neighbourhood, most of the residents are at work during the day. Few inquisitive eyes, quiet streets. Strange vehicles will be spotted quickly. Double storey, from that highest window you can watch most of the street.’


‘A great deal of trouble,’ said Mentz.


‘A great deal. There must be a reason for it.’


‘What do you have in mind?’


‘Our only option is to put someone in one of the four houses across the street. We are studying the title deeds. The ideal would be if one of them was let . . .’


‘Is it going to help, Tau?’


‘What do you mean?’


‘Is it going to help to get someone into one of those houses? A few more photos of them coming and going. That gives us nothing new. We need to know what they are talking about.’


‘Ma’am, we are planning a great deal more than a camera.’


‘Oh?’


‘We are going to erect cellphone antennae, parabolic microphones . . .’


Mentz made a dismissive gesture.


Masilo wasn’t put off his stride. ‘Look at this, for example, here on the front wall. If we can replace one of these screws with an electro-acoustic microphone . . .’


‘If?’


‘Ma’am, you know we have to do surveillance first.’


‘Tau, sometimes I get the impression that we are just playing. With all this technology, with the idea of espionage. It’s all so filmic, so much fun and excitement. But when it comes to results, we fall short.’


‘I object . . .’


‘You can object all you want, but where are the results? We had Ismail Mohammed inside, we tried to tap them with technology that I don’t completely understand, and here we are. In the dark.’


‘Not entirely.’


Janina Mentz pulled a face and shook her head. ‘Bring me results, Tau.’


He smiled at her. ‘We will.’


 


19 August 2009. Wednesday.


‘Would you describe yourself as ambitious?’ asked the maternal, middle-aged Mrs Nkosi.


Milla thought before she answered, because she suspected it was a trick question. ‘I believe if you work hard, if you fulfil your responsibilities faithfully and to the best of your ability, you can be successful.’


Mrs Nkosi said ‘uh-huh’ again happily and wrote something on her papers. Then she looked up. ‘Tell me a bit about yourself. Your background.’


Milla had expected that, and prepared for it. ‘I was born in Wellington, I grew up and finished school there. My mother was a housewife . . .’


‘A home maker,’ said Mrs Nkosi, as if it were the most noble of professions.


‘Yes,’ said Milla. ‘And my father was a businessman, I suppose you could say . . .’


 


Operation Shawwal


Transcription: Audio surveillance, M. Strachan. No 14 Daven Court, Davenport Street, Vredehoek


Date and Time: 7 October 2009. 23.09


MS: They were Afrikaner hippies, my mom and dad. Very eccentric, very different from the other children’s parents. I still don’t know whether . . . what effect it had on me. There was a time when I was so ashamed of them . . . I mean, my mom was . . . Sometimes she walked around the house in the nude when we were alone. My dad smoked dope now and then. In our sitting room. He worked from home. The garage was his workshop. He fixed cash registers, at first. Then computers . . . He was . . . not just eccentric, he was clever. He read widely, science, history, philosophy . . . He was a great fan of Bertrand Russell, he considered himself a relatively political pacifist, his favourite quotation was ‘free intellect is the chief engine of human progress’ . . . 


 


‘I got married the year I completed my honours in journalism. Also pregnant. Then home maker . . .’ she let the designation hang between them with a bashful smile, because it was Mrs Nkosi’s. ‘. . . for seventeen years. And now I am on my own again. I must add, that I am not officially Strachan yet. It is my maiden name, but the divorce is not through . . .’


‘Good for you,’ said Mrs Nkosi. ‘How long have you been on your own?’


‘Oh a few months already.’ A lie, born of necessity.


‘Good,’ said Mrs Nkosi. Milla had no idea why. The entire experience had a certain surreal feeling. The employment agency was a disappointment. On the fifth floor of a charmless building in Wale Street, the letters on the door were small and unimaginative. Perfect Placement Employment Brokers. The furniture and decor were without character, vaguely depressing. Which magazine was the position for, she wondered. A small industrial publication? A new, free suburban newspaper?


They chatted for over an hour and a half, wandered off in slightly apologetic exploration of her background, her personality, her opinions and ideology, every answer rewarded with a ‘good’, a fascinated ‘uh-huh’ and the occasional ‘wonderful’, as though it were perfect and exactly right.


Eventually: ‘Is there anything that you would like to ask me?’


‘I would like to know to which publication I am applying?’


‘To be honest, it isn’t a publication as such. In the first place my client needs journalists for their skill in the processing of information. And good writing, of course.’ Mrs Nkosi consulted her notes. ‘The successful candidate will be responsible for the assimilation and structuring of facts, and the writing of concise, clear and readable reports for senior management. The reports play a cardinal role in the decision-making process of the institution.’


‘Oh.’ Her disappointment was visible.


‘It’s an important job,’ said Mrs Nkosi.


Milla nodded, lost in thought.


‘You will earn exactly the same as someone in the media. Perhaps a little more.’


‘What institution is it?’


‘I am not authorised to reveal that now.’
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Photostatic record: Diary of Milla Strachan


Date of entry: 20 August 2009


The first six dance classes completed, the introductory cycle, and official transfer to Mr Soderstrom, my new, long-term instructor. I don’t know what his first name is, that is Arthur Murray convention, the old-fashioned forms of address, ‘Mr’ and ‘Mrs’ and ‘Miss’, all gallantry and dignity. Mr Soderstrom is lean and such an incredibly good dancer. I asked him, after a session of sweat and struggle, did he think I could ever get there. ‘Oh, yes,’ he beamed. ‘You will dance!’


I guess he says that to all his students.


Sat in front of the computer for three hours, trying to write my book. Nothing. Are there school figures for writing, an attempt at a novel reduced to one-two-three-backstep for amateurs? My thoughts drifted off to unfamiliar places. The nature of freedom, its relativity. Freedom, bound by conscience, by longing, guilt and dependence and money and stimulation and structure and talent and goals. And courage. I had lost mine, somewhere in the northern suburbs, years ago.


 


24 August 2009. Monday.


Milla was in the Pick ’n’ Pay in the Gardens centre when Kemp, her attorney called.


‘Two things. There is a letter here from your son. To you. And Christo phoned, very angry. He said people came to see him, at work. About your background check.’


‘My background check?’ Completely at a loss.


‘Apparently you applied for a job somewhere.’


She battled to put two and two together.


‘Did you?’ asked Kemp.


‘Yes . . .’


‘He said they were asking questions about your political background.’


‘My political background?’


‘May I ask where you applied for work?’


‘I . . . the . . . employment agency couldn’t tell me much. It’s a journalism job . . . What did Christo tell them?’


‘His exact words?’


‘Yes.’


‘That you are a bloody communist, just like your father. And as crazy as your mother. Apparently he was very upset, it was a big embarrassment for him, he said you ought to have warned him . . .’


‘How could I . . . ?’ She heard the tone of another incoming call. ‘Gus, I have to go . . .’


‘I’ll send our messenger to deliver the letter to you.’


‘Thanks, Gus.’


He said goodbye and she checked her screen. UNKNOWN CALLER.


‘Hello?’


‘Hello, Milla, this is Mrs Nkosi . . .’


Milla wanted to ask about the checks, she wanted to protest politely, but before she could react: ‘I have very good news for you. You are on the short-list. Can you come in tomorrow for another interview?’


It was so unexpected that Milla asked: ‘Tomorrow?’


‘If that’s convenient.’


‘Of course.’ She confirmed a time, and said goodbye. She stood behind her trolley in the middle of the shopping centre aisle, trying to absorb it all. Apparently Christo’s comment about her father, the communist, hadn’t done too much harm.


Then Milla turned and walked back into Pick ’n’ Pay and bought herself a pack of cigarettes and a Bic lighter. For the first time in eighteen years.


 


In the Presidential Intelligence Agency Operations room, the big screen displayed a photo of the man in a suit getting out of a car. He was coloured, dressed in a tasteful dark suit, white shirt and grey tie. He carried a black briefcase over his shoulder. It was a grainy image with little depth, and gave the impression of a telephoto lens. 


Janina Mentz and Advocate Tau Masilo sat and studied it. Beside them stood Masilo’s right-hand man, Quinn, the Chief of Staff: Operations. He pointed at the screen.


‘That is one of the members of the Supreme Committee, Shaheed Latif Osman,’ said Quinn. ‘You don’t often see him in a suit, more usually in traditional Muslim dress. The photo was taken on Sunday, at about half past twelve, at a five-star guest house in Morningside, Johannesburg. Osman booked in under the name of Abdul Gallie. Here he is on his way back to the airport. Twenty minutes earlier this man . . .’ Quinn clicked the mouse of the laptop and another photo appeared. ‘. . . also left the location.’ A big black man, smart in a dark blue jacket and grey trousers, getting into the passenger seat of a black BMW X5 in front of the guest house.


‘This morning we identified him through the vehicle number plate. His name is Julius Nhlakanipho Shabangu. He goes by the alias ‘Inkunzi’, which means ‘bull’ in Zulu. The greatest source of information on him is in the SAPS Criminal Intelligence database, connecting him with organised crime in the Gauteng area. He has a criminal record, two jail terms for armed robbery. He is under suspicion of being the brains behind a car hijacking network and various cash-in-transit robberies over the past four years. There is more information in the former Scorpions’ files, but that will take a while to access.’


‘According to one of the kitchen staff, Shabangu and Osman met in the library, behind closed doors,’ said the Advocate.


Quinn confirmed this with a finger pointed at the screen: ‘Shabangu arrived at the guest house at ten in the morning. His chauffeur waited outside. Two hours later he emerged, and shortly after that, Osman came out. Osman had not left the guest house since the previous evening.’


‘Interesting,’ said Janina Mentz.


‘We have no previous record of a meeting between these two. Osman frequently travels to Johannesburg, but normally to mosques in Lenasia, Mayfair and Laudium. Shabangu was never seen at any of those places,’ said Quinn.


‘A new partnership.’ Janina Mentz was pleased. This was progress.


‘Strange bedfellows,’ said Tau Masilo.


‘I presume we are going to keep an eye on Shabangu.’


‘Indeed.’


 


She wanted to light a cigarette before opening the letter. She realised she didn’t have an ashtray. She went to the kitchen to fetch a saucer, lit the cigarette and inhaled deeply. And coughed.


She smoked the whole cigarette, staring at the letter on the coffee table. She picked it up reluctantly and tore it open.


 


Dear Ma


I’m very sorry, Ma. I was rude and I didn’t behave right. I didn’t appresiate you, only when it was too late. Ma, I have learned my lesson, I promise you. If you can forgive me, I will make it up to you. I swear, Ma. Pa says if you can just talk, we can make it all right again. Please, Ma, I miss you and need you in my life. I don’t know what to say to my friends.


Call me, Ma


Barend


 


His handwriting was usually untidy, sometimes illegible. She didn’t know where he had found this paper, thin, expensive, she could see here he had written with a great deal of care. Despite the spelling mistake.


Milla pushed it away across the coffee table, because the guilt and the longing burned right through her.


 


Late that night she lay in her bed, staring at the ceiling in remorse, building containing walls against the guilt by composing an answer to Barend in her head.


Let me tell you the whole truth: it won’t help for me to have a talk with your father, because I don’t love him any more. And to my shame, I don’t know if I ever loved him. I don’t hate him either, I moved on from that a long time ago. I feel nothing for him.


I love you, because you are my child.


But love is like a message. It only exists if there is someone to receive it. You have to admit that you haven’t been receiving for a long time now. You, Barend, begging and pleading and full of remorse now, where was that when I sat down with you time after time in love and tenderness and asked, please, just talk civilly to me, because the way a man talks to a woman defines him? You are bigger and stronger than I am; physically I am afraid of you. I don’t want to list your sins, because I can already see your face if you had to read them, those meaningless, suburban, domestic sins of the teenager: your pigsty of a room, your dirty washing always on the floor of the bathroom despite my pleas. Your dullness, your selfishness, your superiority, as though I were trash, to be endured only with effort. Your general lack of consideration, your self-centred existence, your endless requests for more money, more possessions, more favours. Your reaction when I say no, the explosions, the swearing. Your accusations, so bitterly unfair, your manipulation, your lies. You are a bully and a fraud and I love you despite all of it, but it doesn’t mean I have to live with it for ever.


She composed that in her head, knowing that it would never be put down on paper.


Tomorrow morning she would write Barend an actual letter. She would say that she was not going to phone him just yet. He was to give her time to find her feet, please. But they could correspond and she would always reply to his letters.


That she had forgiven him already. That she loved him endlessly.
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25 August 2009. Tuesday.


In the same vaguely depressing, characterless interview room, this time with four people: the cheerful Mrs Nkosi, a black man who just introduced himself as ‘Ben’, and at the back against the wall, two unidentified spectators, a very fat Indian, and a white woman in her fifties.


‘I must say the background check was a bit of a surprise,’ Milla cautiously addressed herself to the good nature of Mrs Nkosi.


‘Understood,’ said Ben, who reminded Milla of Shakespeare, one of Julius Caesar’s ‘lean and hungry men’. ‘Unavoidable. Giving notice would defeat the purpose. Undermine the credence.’ His sentences marched out like soldiers.


‘But the good news is that you made the short-list,’ Mrs Nkosi said. ‘The job is just as I described it to you. And now we can tell you a little more.’


‘It’s for a government agency. A very important one. Are you willing to work for the government?’ Ben asked.


‘Yes, I . . . May I ask, which other people you spoke to? About me?’


‘Usually, we take a look at your body of work as a journalist. Talk to previous employers and colleagues. Your case was different. Spoke to your ex-husband. A former schoolteacher. Former lecturer. You passed. Flying colours.’


She was dying to ask which teacher, Wellington had all those conservative Broederbonders . . .


‘Now. The job. For a State Department. Secrecy is essential. The major factor here: you won’t be able to talk about your work. The real work. You will have to lie. To your friends. Your family. All the time. It can be a strain.’


‘In the beginning, really just in the beginning,’ said Mrs Nkosi soothingly. ‘You get used to it.’


‘Of course, you will be trained. To manage. But, perhaps this is not what you had in mind at all.’


‘It’s . . . I had no idea . . .’


‘We understand, it is sudden, it’s unexpected. Don’t worry, you’ll have plenty of time to think it over. But if you feel right now that it is something that you absolutely don’t want to do . . .’


‘No,’ said Milla Strachan. ‘I . . . It sounds . . . exciting.’


 


27 August 2009. Thursday.


Rajhev Rajkumar knew Janina Mentz well. He knew how to win her favour.


‘About the Report Squad appointment . . .’


‘Yes?’


‘This one, I think, was the strongest candidate,’ he said and tapped a fingernail on a folder.


‘Why?’


‘She’s intelligent, little bit flustered, but Ben can be difficult. She’s politically almost neutral, with a liberal background. Living on her own. And, of course, she can start on the first, which is a bonus.’


‘She has no real applicable experience.’


‘None of them had. As you know, it’s a blessing in disguise. No bad habits, no media ideology.’


‘Mmm . . .’


Rajkumar waited patiently, because he knew Mentz had read the full transcripts, he knew which paragraphs would make the breakthrough.


 


Personnel Interview: Vacant position – Report Squad


Transcription: M. Strachan, interviewed by B.B and J.N.


Date and Time: 25 August 2009. 10.30


BB: Will you receive alimony?


MS: No.


BB: Why not? Surely, you deserve it. And your husband is a wealthy man.


MS: Taking money from him would be an acknowledgement of dependence. And submissiveness. Weakness. I am not weak.


‘Yes,’ Janina Mentz said at last. ‘Appoint her.’


 


1 September 2009. Tuesday.


Fourteen chairs in the training room, a lectern in front, but she and the induction official sat side by side. His voice droned on, his face frowning and serious. ‘Your primary cover is what you tell your family, and your friends. In your case, your primary cover is News This Week. It is a publication that actually exists, it is produced by the government’s Department of Communication, distributed to ministers and directors general and their staff. So you tell people that you work there, that you scan the print and electronic media daily for grass-roots level news from Limpopo and Mpumalanga, your area of focus. And that you write a weekly page on this in the newsletter. You should know, the Government really cares, they actually want to know these things. And you should also study the actual newsletter every week, so that you know the contents. Now, it is essential for a cover to have aspirational aspects, so you can also tell people that you hope to handle one of the bigger areas one day, like the Western Cape, and perhaps become the assistant editor in a few years.’


Milla wondered why she couldn’t aim a bit higher, fictitiously speaking, at the editor’s job itself.


 


Just before lunch she met her new boss, Mrs Killian, the manager of the ‘Report Squad’ as her induction official called it. Milla recognised her, she was the one sitting quietly against the wall at the last interview, the kind-looking one, everyone’s grandma. There was only time for a brief handshake with her other colleagues – the spectacular Jessica, wild red hair and a magnificent bosom, and two bald old men whose names ran by her too quickly.


She realised she was dressed too smartly, because Jessica was simply wearing an old, outsize jersey and jeans, while one of the old guys had on a cravat, with a checked sleeveless pullover.


 


2 September 2009. Wednesday.


Janina Mentz stared at the article in Die Burger for a long time. It was titled ‘Nuwe vrae duik op oor wapens’: New questions about arms emerge.


With a small smile she took a pair of scissors from her desk drawer and cut out the article.


Before she filed it in a new folder, she read it through again. Especially the fifth paragraph with the quote from David Maynier, Member of Parliament for the Democratic Alliance. ‘What is happening, is wrong. We are about to supply flying suits for pilots to President Mahmoud Ahmadinejad of Iran, we have already sold grenade launchers and missiles that could be used to launch nuclear weapons to Colonel Muammar Gaddafi of Libya, as well as guns to President Hugo Chavez of Venezuela. The government should explain why they are selling weapons to a string of pariah states – and illegally to boot.’


 


At around 10.14 on the Wednesday morning of the second of September, the red Toyota Corolla with an Eastern Cape registration number stopped in front of 16A Chamberlain Street. The house was one of six single-storey semi-detached houses, each painted a different bright colour. Number 16A was an indescribable pinky-purple, with red-painted tops on the two pillars of the equally red garden gate. A coloured man and woman in their thirties took their time getting out of the car, stretching, as if the journey had been long and wearying, before approaching the little gate and entering. The young man took keys out of his pocket and opened the front door. Both disappeared into the house, which had stood empty since the previous day.


About a quarter of an hour later a lorry stopped in front of the house. The lettering on the sides read Afriworld Removals, Port Elizabeth. 


The coloured couple came out of the front door, greeted the driver and pointed at the house.


Diagonally opposite, Baboo Rayan, dogsbody of the Supreme Committee, kept an eye on proceedings from the top window of number 15 – the opening of the lorry doors, the transfer of simple, middle-class furniture.


 


During the late-afternoon meeting, Advocate Tau Masilo reported that the two operatives were successfully installed opposite the house of the Supreme Committee. (Masilo had banned the word ‘agent’ from the PIA lexicon. ‘We are not selling insurance.’ His standpoint was not negotiable. ‘The operatives will maintain a very low profile for the next week or two, ma’am. Tomorrow the man will begin work at a spare parts company in Victoria Street. For now the woman will play the apparent housewife and start photo-surveillance of 15 Chamberlain Street. We hid the voice and cellphone monitoring equipment in the furniture. He will set it up tonight and we should be operational by tomorrow. Then it just leaves the insertion of the electro-acoustic microphone, but we will only do that once we are absolutely certain of their movements . . .’


‘Good work, Tau.’


‘Thank you, ma’am.’


She looked to Rajkumar. She knew the Indian had good news. Since the start of the meeting he had had that self-satisfied smile on his face. ‘Raj?’


‘Julius Shabangu, our crime kingpin in Jo’burg. We have very interesting insights . . .’


Mentz lifted her eyebrows.


‘We’ve had two vehicles, disguised as private security patrols from the Eagle Eye company, in Shabangu’s neighbourhood for the past week,’ Rajkumar paused for Janina Mentz to appreciate the wit and irony.


She just nodded.


‘Anyway, they’ve been monitoring cellphone traffic. We’ve been processing a lot of data, and the good news is, we have two cell numbers that probably belong to him or his people . . .’


‘Probably?’


‘Madam, we have more than twenty houses in the block, and a lot of cellular traffic. But the calls in question correspond to the times Shabangu and his staff have been at home. We have now isolated them, and will eavesdrop as from tonight. But here’s the interesting thing. They’ve been talking to Harare. Two calls, from two different cellular phones, to the same number in Zim.’


‘My, my,’ said the Advocate.


‘But we don’t know who the Harare number belongs to,’ said Mentz.


‘We don’t have access to infrastructure in Zim. But we will now start listening to any future calls from those numbers . . .’


Mentz gave him a full-blown smile. ‘Raj, that is good work.’


‘I know,’ the Indian said.


Photostatic record: Diary of Milla Strachan


Date of entry: 2 September 2009


Exhausted. What a day. Nine hours of training – Computer Literacy, Internet Skills, Search Procedures, Report Writing, Writing Style, everything in one room in front of one computer, with four different, equally soul-destroying instructors.


 


Photostatic record: Diary of Milla Strachan


Date of entry: 3 September 2009


Highlight of the day: for the first time I saw the words ‘Spy the Beloved Country’. The words marched slowly across the computer screen of Oom Theunie, my bald colleague. His screen saver. 


He smelled of pipe smoke, like my father.
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4 September 2009. Friday.


They sat in the Bizerca Bistro, the elegant black Advocate Tau Masilo, and the crushproof white woman, Janina Mentz, heads together like lovers. They were an island of solemnity in the light-hearted lunch hour.


Masilo’s voice was quiet. ‘My source says our Minister’s recommendation is that we be left in peace in the amalgamation, but there are other cabinet members who differ.’


‘Who?’


‘The Minister of Defence, apparently, and the Minister of Home Affairs.’


Senior cabinet members, Mentz realised. She digested the information before asking, ‘Who else supports us?’


‘The Deputy President.’


‘Is that all?’


‘You must understand, the information is second-hand, and I suspect much of it is speculation. But the important thing is, the President is not yet certain that we are included.’


They ate in silence. Masilo enjoyed his food with visible pleasure. Eventually he put his knife and fork down. ‘No wonder the Minister of Finance eats here too. Ma’am, may I make a suggestion?’ he asked.


‘Of course, Tau.’


‘Now is the time to make a fuss. To convince the President . . .’


‘How?’


‘With what we have. I know, I know, seen objectively, it’s not much. But a short report, cleverly written . . .’


‘It’s dangerous.’


‘Why would that be?’


‘Tau, how much credibility will we lose if the Muslim affair is completely off-target?’


‘Will it matter, in a month or two?’


‘We simply don’t have enough yet,’ with disguised regret.


‘I don’t know if we can wait much longer, ma’am. It’s a window of opportunity, and it won’t stay open for long. The President could make his decision any day now . . .’


Janina Mentz adjusted her spectacles. Unconvinced.


Masilo’s cellphone rang. He answered and listened. Spoke into the instrument: ‘From where?’ Then again: ‘I’ll be there now.’


He put the phone away. ‘That was Quinn. I think the cellular taps in Gauteng have borne fruit.’


 


Quinn, the Chief of Staff: Operations, in a black turtleneck sweater and khaki chinos, caressed the facts with his quiet voice: ‘Inkunzi Shabangu and his people are clever, as befits members of organised crime. Every week they replace their cellphone SIM cards. It takes Raj and his people three or four days to isolate the new numbers, because we can monitor Shabangu’s house, that is our one constant site. That leaves only three days of surveillance before we have to start all over again. Incidentally they never use the same SIM card twice, and we suspect every new number is SMSed to important contacts on Sunday evenings. This was recorded this morning. One voice is Shabangu himself. The call came from Harare, it is a typical Zim accent . . .’


Quinn clicked on the mouse. The sound was excellent on the impressive system.


‘Hello.’


‘Mhoroi, Inkunzi, how are you?’


‘I am very well, my friend, and how are you?’


‘Not so well, Inkunzi, times are tough over here.’


‘I know, my friend, I know, the newspapers are full of it.’


‘What can you do . . . ?’


‘So, my friend, ndeipi?’


‘The news is that you were right, Inkunzi. Chitepo is working on a new route, and it will go through South Africa.’


Quinn paused the recording for a moment. ‘Most likely that’s Johnson Chitepo, head of Zimbabwe’s Joint Operations Command, and Mugabe’s right-hand man. But listen to this . . .’ and he reactivated the recording.


‘And you are sure?’ said the voice of Julius Shabangu over the speakers.


‘Almost sure. Ninety-nine per cent. But it looks like he is keeping Comrade Bob in the dark.’


‘Chitepo?’


‘Yebo.’


‘He’s stealing from Mugabe now?’


‘He is looking after himself.’


‘OK. So when is it going to happen?’


‘Soon, I think. But we will try to find out more.’


‘And the route? How does it work?’


‘All I know is, he’s working with a South African. Someone in nature conservation. So it could be through Kruger, you know, the transfrontier park. They are connected now, Gonarezhou and Kruger. That is what we think, they will take it through there.’


‘OK. My friend this is very good. But we need the details.’


‘I know, Inkunzi. I will keep listening.’


‘Tatenda, my friend. Fambai zvakanaka.’


‘Fambai zvakanaka, Inkunzi.’


Quinn paused the recording again. ‘That just means “go well” in Shona. The conversation is quite typical, they keep it short, just like the following one. This is Shabangu phoning, the number he called is a house here in Cape Town, in Rondebosch East, which we’ll naturally monitor from now on. The house belongs to one Abdullah Hendricks. Up till now he has not been on our radar at all.’ He clicked on a new electronic folder.


‘Hendricks.’


Inkunzi’s voice, deep and authoritarian: ‘I have a message for Inkabi.’


‘Inka . . . ? Yes, Inkabi. What is the message?’


‘Tell him he was right. Our friend in Zimbabwe is back in the export business, but he has new partners, and he wants to export to South Africa. Tell him this is ninety-nine per cent sure, but that is all we know. We will try to get more.’


‘I will tell him.’


‘OK, my friend. That’s all.’


‘Khuda hafiz.’


‘OK.’


The electronic noise of a call being terminated. Quinn turned away from the screen and looked at Mentz and Masilo. ‘“Inkabi” is the Zulu word for “ox”, “os” as in Osman, which of course, refers to the Supreme Committee member Shaheed Latif Osman. Most likely that is the code Shabangu and Osman agreed on during their meeting. Obviously, Shabangu has a sense of humour.’


Only Masilo smiled.


‘Hendricks might be Supreme Committee too, or on the fringes. He’s new to us. You can also pick up that he was taken a little by surprise. He didn’t recognise the code immediately. We believe this is the first call from Shabangu to this number, the first time that he has used the code to report to Osman since they met in Johannesburg,’ said Quinn. 


‘What does “khuda hafiz” mean?’ Mentz asked.


‘It’s a Muslim greeting. Something like “may God protect you”. As we could hear, Shabangu didn’t know either.’


‘Have we no idea who Inkunzi Shabangu’s contact in Harare is?’


‘No, ma’am. But we do know quite a few other things. We know why Osman went to see Shabangu.’


‘Share your insights,’ said Janina Mentz.


‘It is still an incomplete picture . . .’


‘That I know, Quinn. And it’s quite a muddled picture to me.’


‘Take it from the top,’ said Masilo. ‘It is very important that we all understand exactly what’s going on here.’


Quinn nodded, thought a moment before he came and sat down opposite them.


‘Very well,’ he said. ‘Picture it as a drama, with two main actors and two supporting roles. Main character number one is Johnson Chitepo. He is Zimbabwe’s Chief of Joint Operations Command, he was Mugabe’s right-hand man, the man who negotiated the deal to acquire the diamond mine concessions in the Congo. He was also the one who sold the diamonds in the carefree years so that he and Comrade Bob could put money aside. Huge amounts of money. But that was then. Things are appreciably different now. Mugabe and Chitepo are slowly but surely losing their grip on power in Zim. Their diamond sales are curtailed by sanctions and international agreements, their bank accounts are frozen, for all practical purposes that money is lost. Chitepo’s burning desire right now is to quickly build up a new nest egg. Before the end arrives, and the end will arrive, it’s only a matter of time. He’s sitting with at least a hundred million dollars’ worth of diamonds. Multiply that by seven, it’s a lot of rands . . . And he can’t sell them directly. But now he seems to have found new partners. Someone in nature conservation, someone who can smuggle them out via the greater Kruger Park. Does that make sense?’


Mentz nodded.


‘Our second lead actor is Sayyid Khalid bin Alawi Macki. He was the one who formerly helped Chitepo with the diamond sales, he was the one who converted the Congo diamonds into cash, laundered the money and deposited it in the Swiss bank accounts of Mugabe and his cronies. But once his channels were choked off, the big friendship between him and Chitepo soured. Before I go on, there are a lot of things we must keep in mind when it comes to Macki. One: his core business is money laundering, and he operates all over Africa. We know he does it for the pirates in Somalia, for the fraud and drug networks in Nigeria, and the car-theft syndicates in Mozambique. Two: the international economic crisis hit him hard. He lost huge investments in Dubai, his turnover is generally over sixty per cent down, he is battling at the moment. Three: he is a militant Muslim from Oman, currently the new and greatest growth point for al-Qaeda. And four: Macki has a soft spot for al-Qaeda. His success, his wealth and his support have given him prominence in those circles. Prominence that he badly wants to regain.’


Quinn gave Mentz a chance to take it all in.


‘The main intrigue of our drama is Chitepo’s desire to sell diamonds, and Macki’s view that the little stones belong to him, or that he has at least a fifty per cent share in them, according to the original agreement. Somehow or other, Macki heard of Chitepo’s plans, and he is determined to intercept the booty. The so-called “shipment”. His problem is that he no longer has friends in Zimbabwe, and he is sitting in Oman. So, what can he do? His only recourse is to talk to his contacts closest to the action, his Muslim brothers.’


‘The Supreme Committee,’ said Janina Mentz.


‘Here in the fairest Cape,’ said Advocate Tau Masilo.


‘Exactly,’ said Quinn. ‘That is why Macki called the first supporting actor on the stage. Suleiman Dolly, Chairman of the Supreme Committee.’


‘The call that our mole, Ismail Mohammed overheard.’


‘That’s right. Macki knew Dolly and the Supreme Committee needed funds urgently for the project they are working on.’


‘The local project, which according to Ismail Mohammed is the smuggling in of weapons.’


‘And now, the entrance of our second supporting actor, Julius “Inkunzi” Shabangu. My gut feeling is that Macki recommended Shabangu. Remember, Macki is a money launderer. Through the Mozambican car syndicates he would be at least aware of Shabangu, but more likely he has done business with him directly already . . .’


‘We also know,’ said Tau Masilo, ‘that Inkunzi Shabangu has a lot of Zimbabweans working for him in Gauteng. Car hijackers.’


‘Exactly,’ Quinn agreed. ‘And according to the Scorpions’ dossiers he is also suspected of supplying false passports to Zimbabweans and Nigerians. So he will have good contacts in Harare . . . In any case, when Macki talked to Suleiman Dolly, ten to one he recommended Inkunzi as a possible partner in the whole scheme. And Dolly sent one of his Supreme Committee members to consult with Inkunzi. Osman, in the guest house in Johannesburg. Inkunzi will be keen to keep Macki happy, but above all he is a businessman. He will take a percentage of every transaction. Osman’s suggestion of a cooperation was entirely acceptable to him.’


‘Mmm,’ said Janina Mentz.


‘Inkunzi and his strange new associate, the Supreme Committee, want to intercept Chitepo’s new parcel of diamonds,’ Tau Masilo said.


‘The shipment,’ said Quinn.


‘And Inkunzi has to find out which route it will take. Which South Africans are involved.’


Both men looked at the Director. She pushed up her spectacles and stood up.


‘I think this will make a very interesting report,’ said Tau Masilo. ‘For the President.’


Mentz took her time. The men waited in suspense.


‘You are making one cardinal error,’ said Mentz. ‘Allocating roles. The report will be a failure if you present Chitepo and Macki as lead actors.’


Advocate Tau Masilo was quick to understand. ‘For our purposes the main role will be played by the Supreme Committee and their weapons deal.’
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7 September 2009. Monday.


Milla was dressed in her black dress and boots, with the short blue denim jacket. She felt comfortable, as though she were developing a style, the working woman adapted to the informality of the Report Squad. She sat behind her computer at a quarter to nine, reading her first News This Week, the titbits from Limpopo and Mpumalanga. There was an air of expectation in the office. Theunie, one of the two bald men who were both very comfortable with the respectful Afrikaans address form of ‘Oom’, had said there was Something Big brewing, because Bigfoot had summoned Mother, a definite omen.


Oom Theunie and his nicknames. ‘Mother’ was Mrs Killian, ‘Bigfoot’ referred to Rajkumar, the fat Indian, whom he also called ‘AS’, short for ‘Abominable Snowman’, or ‘The Incredible Bulk’, or sometimes just ‘The Bulk’.


Milla he called ‘Carmen’, Jessica, ‘Freia’ (or ‘The Goddess’ when referring to her in the third person), Don MacFarland, the other old man in the team, was ‘Mac’ of ‘Mac the Wife’.


‘Why “Mac the Wife”?’ she had asked.


Don answered her himself. ‘Because I’m gay, my dear.’


At a quarter to nine Mrs Killian hurried in and called them together with a bundle of thin folders in her hand.


‘The Bulk has spoken,’ said Oom Theunie.


‘Theunie, you are going to write the executive summary, the rest of you will be doing addenda.’ She handed Milla a folder. ‘Your subject is Johnson Chitepo, see if you can find something more recent on the Internet, and let Theunie explain how the format works. Jess, you will be doing Sayyid Khalid bin Alawi Macki . . .’


‘Who?’


‘It’s all in here, but it’s badly dated. Interesting man. Don, I’m giving you the important stuff.’


‘Of course you are.’


‘Qibla, the Supreme Committee, al-Qaeda, and a brand new subject. A Mr Julius Nhlakanipho Shabangu, aka “The Bull”.’


‘Because he has such a big horn?’


She didn’t laugh. ‘It’s big and it’s urgent. Let’s get going.’


 


On her couch, the adrenaline of the day still coursing through her, the pleasure of camaraderie and the learning curve and fraternal witticisms still warming her, with sudden impulsiveness, she phoned her son.


‘Hello?’ he said, teenage suspicion at a number he didn’t recognise.


‘Barend, it’s me.’


‘Ma?’ Dumbfounded.


‘I just wanted to hear your voice.’


‘Where are you, Ma?’


‘I’m at my new house. How are you?’


‘Ma . . . Jissis, Ma . . .’


‘Barend . . .’ Sorry she had phoned. Realising that her euphoria was hers alone.


‘You’ve got a house, Ma?’


‘Just a little flat. Could we just talk?’


Her son hesitated before he answered, a tentative ‘OK.’


‘How are you?’


‘Ma . . . Do you really want to know?’


‘Yes, Barend, I really want to know. You know I love you very much.’


‘Then why did you run away?’


Run away. ‘Did you get my letters?’


‘Are we really that bad, Ma?’


Something in the words and the way he said them made her think they came from Christo’s mouth. Suddenly she didn’t want to talk any more, but she had no choice now. She sat up straight and concentrated. ‘I tried to explain this clearly for you, that it’s not you . . .’


‘Ma . . .’


‘Just listen. Please. I had to get away, precisely because I love you, Barend, I don’t know if you can understand that.’


He said nothing.


‘Can I tell you something? I have a job, I had an amazing day today, I felt I meant something . . .’


‘You could have stayed and still got a job. Why did you have to run away?’


She was about to fall into the old rut, but stopped herself in time. ‘How is your school work?’


‘How do you think? We have a maid now, I have to come home to a bloody black . . .’


‘Barend!’


He mumbled something.


‘Where did you learn that?’ But she knew where. Christo, the covert racist, bemoaning his lot in front of his son: ‘Now we have to come home to a bloody black. Thanks to your mother.’ Without wondering for one second whether he shared the blame for it.


‘Ma, what do you care?’


Milla reached for her cigarettes. She must keep her cool. ‘I had hoped we could talk. Without blame. I thought if we talked often, we could try to rebuild our relationship.’


‘So I drove you away.’


‘Barend, our relationship was totally wrecked. I am prepared to try and fix it. If you are.’


‘Will you come home?’


‘Maybe we shouldn’t talk about the future. Let’s take it day by day. Let’s just try to fix it first. What do you think?’


He was silent for a long time. ‘OK.’
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8 September 2009. Tuesday.


In Rajkumar’s office Janina Mentz put the Report Squad’s work down in front of the fat Indian and said, ‘It’s not good enough.’


And then she told him what changes she wanted, more emphasis to be laid on possible weapons transactions. She did not enlighten Raj as to the source of her inspiration. Only an hour before she had read the latest article in Die Burger describing the parliamentary storm that had erupted over the DA MP’s allegations that the ANC government had been selling weapons to so-called pariah states. ‘National security has been jeopardised. Maynier could be criminally charged,’ a member of the ruling party had said.


Janina Mentz was delighted at this turn of events, the whole question of arms deals brought back into the spotlight. She knew that was the last thing the President wanted, given the stigma that clung to Mo Shaik, likely candidate to head the new intelligence superstructure, even if only by association with his convicted brother.


If she handled it right, this offered her leverage.


 


9 September 2009. Wednesday.


D-Day for Operation EAM.


Quinn sat at three monitors wearing a communications headset. He was alone; they wanted no witnesses if this went awry. He was tense, this operation had been his idea and it was risky. A small error could be glossed over, managed as a temporary setback. But if things went badly pear-shaped, the whole Supreme Committee project would be down the tubes.


The goal was to plant an electro-acoustic microphone (EAM) in the wall of 15 Chamberlain Street. Also known as a concrete microphone, the device was sometimes used by plumbers to detect water leaks in walls.


He had come up with the plan himself a week ago, to use an existing structure to plant the microphone deep within the brick and cement of No 15’s front wall – the TV satellite dish, which a former owner had bolted to the exterior wall just to the left of the front door.


Step two was the preparation. The PIA’s technical division, led by an enthusiastic Rajkumar, had made an identical replica of the dish and supporting arm, based on photos taken through the window of the house opposite. One of the four bolts now housed the microphone. A radio transmitter and battery were built into the pipe of the support arm. The radio receiver was already installed in the surveillance house at 16A Chamberlain.


Step three would begin now. This was the risky part. They must replace the original dish with a new one. They had nine minutes in which to do this.


Nine minutes, that was how long Baboo Rayan, Supreme Committee dogsbody and watchman, left the premises every morning to buy milk and a newspaper at a café in Victoria Street. Sometimes it was longer, depending on the traffic in Mountain Street, but it was never less than nine minutes.


On the monitors in front of him were three different images. The middle one came from number 16A, a video feed showing the Supreme Committee house across the street, where Baboo Rayan’s white Hyundai Elantra was parked. The second monitor, to the left, was from inside the panel van around the corner and showed the driver’s view of the street. The third, on the right, showed the front of the café where Rayan did his shopping every morning without fail.


There was no video in the old, beat-up bakkie on the corner of Chamberlain and Mountain Street. It was Quinn’s crisis management, his plan B – a way to block off the street and delay Rayan. He did not want to use it, because it could easily create suspicion among the extremists, who had been hyper-suspicious and extra cautious over the past weeks. About everything.


On the centre screen the front door of 15 Chamberlain opened and Rayan appeared.


‘Stand by,’ said Quinn into the small microphone in front of his mouth.


He watched Rayan stop on the pavement and look up and down the street, as he always did. Then he unlocked the door of the Elantra and got in. He adjusted the car radio first. He started the car and shifted gears.


Rayan began to drive.


Quinn pressed the button of the stopwatch. ‘OK, Handyman, it’s a go,’ Quinn said.


The panel van began to move, the one with the fictitious TV installation company logo on its sides.
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